## SUPREME COURT COPY

Supreme Court No. S170560

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff, Cross-Defendant and Appellant

νç

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY et al.,

Defendants, Cross-Complainants and Appellants;

EMPLOYERS INSURANCE OF WAUSAU,

Defendant, Cross-Complainant and Respondent

SUPREME LOWER

APR 1 7 2009

Godenskir. Obden Ctope De judy

## **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

From an Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. Civil E041425

From a Decision of the Riverside County Superior Court Case No. 239784 (Consolidated with Case No. RIC-381555)

The Hon. E. Michael Kaiser, Judge

## III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Background

The State selected, designed and constructed the Stringfellow Acid Pits as a Class I hazardous dump site. The site operated from 1956 through 1972, during which time the State directed more than 30,000,000 gallons of liquid industrial wastes to unlined ponds at the site. (Slip Op. at 6.)<sup>1</sup> The site was closed in 1972 when groundwater contamination was found. (Slip Op. at 6.) In subsequent Federal Court proceedings, the State was found liable for the cost of remedying the contamination. (Slip Op. at 6-7; *United States of America v. J. B. Stringfellow, Jr., et al.* (1995 WL 450856).)

In this coverage action, the State seeks to establish indemnity coverage for its costs in remediating the contamination arising from the Stringfellow Acid Pits. (Slip Op. at 3.) The duty to defend is not at issue.

At various times, the trial court made numerous rulings on legal issues, only two of which ("all sums" and no stacking) are the subject of this review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Slip Op." refers to the Court of Appeal's January 5, 2009 Opinion, as modified on January 15, 2009 and January 28, 2009.

By the end of trial, the State had settled with all insurers except the Insurers here. The State had collected in excess of \$120 million in settlements. (Slip Op. at 4, 48AA 12068, et seq.)<sup>2</sup>

In post-trial proceedings, and based on its earlier decision that the State could not stack limits, the trial court determined that the most the State could recover from insurers was \$48 million, and that it had already recovered more than that amount from settling insurers. (Slip Op. at 4, 49AA 12505-06.) Therefore, the Court entered final judgment on June 27, 2006 for no damages. (Slip Op. at 4, 49AA 12503.)

The parties in the coverage action stipulated that property damage at the Stringfellow site was continuous beginning in 1957. (47AA 12024.) The continuous property damage arose from a single "occurrence." (Slip Op. at 48-49.)

## B. The Trial Court's Rulings As Relevant Here

The trial court determined that if there is any property damage during a particular policy term, that policy is responsible for all the insured's liability for property damage, even for property damage that did not take place during the policy period. ("all sums" ruling). The trial court relied on *Aerojet-General Corporation v. Transport Indemnity Company*, 17 Cal.4th 38 (1997) for this ruling. (Slip. Op. at 9-10; 34AA 8732.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "AA" refers to the Appellant's Appendix in the Court of Appeal proceedings.

The trial court also determined that the State could not stack the consecutive per occurrence limits of all the policies in effect during which property damage took place. Rather, it concluded that the State could recover the full limits of the policies in effect during the period the State selected from among the triggered policy periods. (Slip. Op. at 9-10; 34AA 8732.) ("stacking" ruling.) The trial court relied on *FMC Corporation v. Plaisted & Company*, 61 Cal.App. 4th 1132 (1998), which had rejected a similar attempt to stack per occurrence limits in the context of continuous property damage arising from contamination.

## C. The Court Of Appeal Opinion

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision on "all sums" concluding that "all sums" in the indemnity context is a done deal in California, citing *Montrose* and *Aerojet*. (Slip op. at 19-20.) The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's decision on stacking, disagreeing with *FMC* and finding that the State was allowed to stack the per occurrence limits of each policy for the one continuous occurrence at issue. (Slip Op. at 20, 43.)

This Court granted review of the "all sums" and "stacking" issues on March 18, 2009.

### D. The Policies

Continental Insurance Company, Continental Casualty Company, Yosemite Insurance Company and Employers Insurance Company of Wausau issued excess policies to the State during the period September 1970 through September 1975.

Stonebridge Life Insurance Company is alleged to have issued an excess policy for the period September 1964 through September 1966.

)

The policies were drafted by the State and/or the State's broker. (Slip Op. at 8; 6AA 1672-1673.)

Each policy issued contains the same language relevant here:

- 1. Insuring Agreement: "To pay on behalf of the Insured all sums which the Insured shall become obligated to pay by reason of liability imposed by law...for damages, including consequential damages, because of injury to or destruction of property, including the loss of use thereof." (Slip. Op. at 8; e.g., 39AA 10149, 10173, 10187.)
- 2. Occurrence Definition: "'Occurrence' means an accident or a continuous or repeated exposure to conditions which result in injury to persons or damage to property during the policy period...." (Slip. Op. at 8; e.g., 39AA 10151, 10175, 10189.)
- 3. Limits of Liability: "The limit of Underwriters' liability shall be as stated below, subject to all the terms of this policy having reference thereto:

Coverage A Personal Liability S\_\_\_\_\_\_ Part of S\_\_\_\_\_\_
Coverage B and Property Ultimate Net Loss Each
Combined Damage Liability Occurrence Excess of
S\_\_\_\_\_\_ Ultimate Net Loss
Each Occurrence (hereinafter called 'The Insured's Retention')." (Slip. Op. at 8;
e.g., 39AA 10151, 10175,
10189.)

4. Policy Period Territory: "This policy applies only to occurrences which take place during the policy period commencing [ ] and ending [ ]...." (e.g. 39AA10149, 10173, 10187.)

The State did not purchase liability insurance before 1963 or after 1978. (6AA 1671-1673.)

## IV. ARGUMENT

- A. This Court Should Reject The Court Of Appeal's "All Sums"

  Decision
  - Montrose and Aerojet Did Not Decide The Issue Under Review Here

The Court of Appeal held that "each of the Insurers covered the total amount of the State's liability for property damage (subject to their respective limits), including property damage that actually occurred before or after their policy periods." (Slip Op. at 20.)

Without doing any independent analysis, the Court of Appeal summarized the result it believed flowed from this Court's decisions in *Montrose* and *Aerojet*:

[W]hen there is a continuous loss spanning multiple policy periods, any insurer that covered any policy period is liable for the entire loss, up to the limits of its policy. The insurer's remedy is to seek contribution from any other insurers that are also on the risk.

The Insurers' arguments to the contrary founder on the fact that we must follow the California Supreme Court's lead. (Slip Op. at 19.)

But, in *Montrose*, this Court only addressed whether general liability policies "obligate Admiral to **defend** Montrose in lawsuits seeking damages for continuous or progressively deteriorating bodily injury and property damage that

occurred during the successive policy periods." *Montrose, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at 645, emphasis added. The Court held that each policy was potentially triggered because part of the ongoing damage allegedly happened during each policy period, creating a potential for coverage that gave rise to a duty to defend under each policy. *Id.* at 689. In deciding the duty to defend question, the Court was careful to explain that it was not addressing the extent of the indemnity obligation or whether each policy required to provide a defense must also indemnify the insured for property damage that did not happen during its policy period:

In this case we address the issue reserved in *Prudential-LMI*.

Specifically, we must determine whether four comprehensive general liability (CGL) policies issued by defendant and respondent Admiral Insurance Company (Admiral) to plaintiff and appellant Montrose Chemical Corporation of California (Montrose) obligate Admiral to defend Montrose in lawsuits seeking damages for continuous or progressively deteriorating bodily injury and property damage that occurred during the successive policy periods. *Montrose, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at 654.

\* \* \*

It must be borne in mind that Admiral's duty to defend Montrose is all that is directly at issue in this proceeding. The obligation to indemnify must be distinguished from the duty to defend. *Id.* at 659 n. 9.

Although *Montrose* adopted a continuous injury "trigger" for claims of continuous or progressive damage or injury (*Id.* at 685, 689), it did not determine the actual indemnity obligation due, once a policy is triggered. ("we do not purport to reach the merits of whether coverage...can ultimately be established...or reach the merits of any affirmative defenses to coverage....") *Id.* at 694.<sup>3</sup>

Moreover, the Court's discussion of the "trigger of coverage" leading to its conclusion to adopt a continuous trigger, is inconsistent with an "all sums" approach for indemnity. Based on its review of the policy language, the Court stated:

We find no ambiguity in this language; it clearly and explicitly provides that the occurrence of bodily injury or property damage during the policy period is the operative event that triggers coverage. *Id* at 668.

Next, the Court emphasized the critical role that the limitation of "property damage during the policy period" plays in defining the scope of coverage. In discussing the standard form language at issue, the Court observed that the drafters:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court described the phrase "trigger of coverage" as a term of convenience to describe what must happen during the policy period to activate coverage. *Id.* at 655, n.2.

contemplated that the policy would afford liability coverage for all property damage or injury occurring during the policy period resulting from an accident, or from injurious exposure to conditions. Nothing in the policy language purports to exclude damage or injury of a continuous or progressively deteriorating nature, as long as it occurs during the policy period. Nor is there any basis for inferring that an *insured's* understanding and reasonable expectations regarding the scope of coverage for damage or injury occasioned during the effective period of an occurrence-based CGL policy would have been otherwise. *Id.* at 673; emphasis in bold added.

Furthermore, in *Montrose*, the Court expressly rejected the view that each insurer is jointly and severally liable where damage occurs over multiple policy periods, specifically disapproving *California Union Insurance Company v.*Landmark Insurance Company, 145 Cal.App.3d 462 (1983):

We do not endorse that aspect of the *California Union* court's holding that both insurers in that case were *jointly and severally liable* for the full amount of damage occurring during the successive policy periods.

Allocation of the cost of indemnification once several insurers have been found liable to indemnify the insured for all or some portion of a continuing injury or progressively deteriorating property damage requires application of principles of contract law to the express terms and limitations of the various policies of insurance on the risk.

Montrose supra, 10 Cal.4th at 681, n. 19 (citations omitted).

Yet, as discussed in Section IV.A.3. below, "all sums" does result in joint and several liability. And, one of the "express terms" of the policies is that damages are payable only for the property damage that takes place during the policy period.

Lastly, in discussing why the "loss in progress" rule did not apply, the Court in *Montrose* acknowledged that the insurers' general liability policies "did not purport to cover damage or injury that occurred prior to the time those policies went into effect, and only covered those bodily injuries and damages (or continuing bodily injuries and damages resulting from 'continuous or repeated exposure to conditions') that might occur in the future during the policy periods...." Id. at 691.

Thus, *Montrose* supports Insurers' point that the duty to indemnify extends only to property damage during the policy period, not to damage that occurs before the policy incepts or after it expires.

Likewise in *Aerojet*, the Court made plain that it was not deciding indemnity issues:

The issues to be resolved are whether, under standard comprehensive or commercial general liability insurance policies, site investigation expenses may constitute defense costs that the

insurer must incur in fulfilling its duty to defend, and whether, under such policies, defense costs may be allocated to the insured. *Aerojet, supra,* 17 Cal.4th at 55-56.

The Court explained that the duty to defend is broader than the duty to indemnify, and that different analyses apply in determining whether costs are properly included within these distinct duties: "It is plain that the insurer's duty to defend is broader than its duty to indemnify...It extends beyond claims that are actually covered to those that are merely potentially so...." *Id.* at 59. In *Aerojet*, the Court determined that, because an insurer must pay all defense costs for a claim that is at least potentially covered, the duty to defend under a triggered policy extends to the entire defense where at least part of the potentially covered damage happened during the policy period. *Id.* at 68-76.

In contrast, the insurer only "has a duty to indemnify the insured for those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages for a covered claim." *Id.* at 56. The duty to indemnify extends only to "harm proved within coverage." *Certain Underwriters at Lloyds of London v. Superior Court* (*Powerine Oil Company*), 24 Cal.4th 945, 950 (2001); *Palmer v. Truck Insurance*, 21 Cal.4th 1109, 1120 (1999) ("While an insurer has a duty to defend suits which potentially seek covered damages, it has a duty to indemnify only where a judgment has been entered on a theory which is actually (not potentially) covered by the policy"); *Buss v. Superior Court*, 16 Cal.4th 35, 45-46 (1997) (the duty to indemnify runs to claims that are actually covered in light of facts proved, while

the duty to defend encompasses claims that are merely potentially covered in light of facts alleged); *Montrose, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at 659, fn.9. ("Although an insurer may have a duty to defend, it ultimately may have no obligation to indemnify, either because no damages were awarded in the underlying action against the insured, or because the actual judgment was for damages not covered under the policy.")

Yet, the important distinction between the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify is not addressed in the Court of Appeal's Opinion or by other Courts of Appeal that have extended *Montrose* and *Aerojet* to the indemnity context. Essentially, the Courts of Appeal improperly extended the "all sums" approach applicable in the context of defense to the duty to indemnify based on this Court's decisions in *Montrose* and *Aerojet*, even though the indemnity issue was not presented or decided in those cases. See, Armstrong World Industries, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Company, 45 Cal. App. 4th 1, 49-50 (1996); FMC, supra, 61 Cal. App. 4th at 1181, 1187, Stonewall Insurance Company v. City of Palos Verdes Estates, 46 Cal. App. 4th 1810, 1835-1836 (1996) (extent of liability that triggered insurers bear was not resolved in *Montrose* because the issue "was only whether there was potential coverage under the policy issued by that one insurer."); Shade Foods, Inc. v. Innovative Products Sales & Marketing, Inc., 78 Cal.App.4th 847, 897-899 (2000) (referring to the "liable in full" language in Montrose as dicta "that has shaped subsequent Court of Appeal decisions.")

Those Courts and the Court of Appeal in this case misplaced reliance on Montrose and Aerojet in extending "all sums" to the indemnity context. As Justice Chin stated in Aerojet, concurring and dissenting:

Nowhere does *Montrose* require an insurer to *indemnify* or *reimburse* an insured for a monetary loss incurred outside the policy period. To do so would extend coverage beyond the CGL policy scope, hold insurers to joint and several liability and result in a windfall to the insured. *Aerojet, supra,* 17 Cal.4th at 90, citing *Montrose, supra,* 10 Cal.4th at 673.

Aerojet does not dictate an "all sums" result in the indemnity context. In fact, Aerojet allowed allocation to the insured, even in the duty to defend context. The Court emphasized the analytical framework applicable to its decision that defense costs may be allocated to the insured in a "mixed" action, in which one of the claims is covered, and one is not:

[I]n an action wherein none of the claims is even potentially covered because it does not even possibly embrace any triggering harm of the specified sort within the policy period caused by an included occurrence, the insurer does not have a duty to defend. (Buss v. Superior Court, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 47.) 'This freedom is implied in the policy's language. It rests on the fact that the insurer has not been paid premiums by the insured for a defense. This "rule" too "is grounded in basic principles of contract law." [Citation.] As stated,

the duty to defend is contractual. "The insurer has not contracted to pay defense costs" for claims that are not even potentially covered.'

(Ibid.)

It follows that, in a 'mixed' action, in which at least one of the claims is at least potentially covered and at least one of the claims is not, the insurer does not have a duty to defend the action in its entirety arising out of contract: It 'has a duty to defend as to the claim[] that [is] at least potentially covered, having been paid premiums by the insured therefor, but does not have a duty to defend as to [the claim] that [is] not, having not been paid therefor.' (Buss v. Superior Court, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 47-48.) Id. at 59; emphasis in bold added.

The Court then determined that there was an implied prophylactic duty to defend the entire claim on the basis that:

the insurer has a duty to defend the entire 'mixed' action imposed by law in support of the policy: 'To defend meaningfully, [it] must defend immediately. [Citation.] To defend immediately, it must defend entirely.' (Buss v. Superior Court, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 48-49.) Id. at 59-60.

The Court applied that analytical framework in the context of the "mixed" claim at issue involving continuous property damage. The Court found that some parts of the claim were potentially covered because there could be triggering harm within the policy period,

and at least one of the parts was not even potentially covered because it did not even possibly embrace any triggering harm of the specified sort within the policy period caused by an included occurrence. Nevertheless, each [insurer] had a duty, prophylactic although not contractual, to defend all the parts. *Id.* at 70, emphasis added.

Significantly, the Court held that, notwithstanding the prophylactic duty to defend, insurers could thereafter allocate defense costs to the insured:

[E]ach insurer may allocate defense costs to Aerojet for any part of the single broad 'mixed' claim presented in the governmental and private actions that was not even potentially covered because it did not even possibly embrace any triggering harm of the specified sort within its policy period or periods caused by an included occurrence. For example, on the requisite proof, it may allocate defense costs for a part involving acts or omissions that may possibly have caused bodily injury or property damage-whether continuous or progressively deteriorating, on the one side, or

discrete, on the other side-only after its policy or policies expired.

Id. at 71, emphasis added.

Thus, even in the broader duty to defend context, insurers are not ultimately responsible for defense costs relating to all damage outside the policy period.

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