Supreme Court No. S170560

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff, Cross-Defendant and Appellant

v.

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY et al., Defendants, Cross-Complainants and Appellants; SUPREME COURT

EMPLOYERS INSURANCE OF WAUSAU Defendant, Cross-Complainant and Respondent

JUN 1 1 2009

From an Opinion of the Court of Appeal,
Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. Civil E041425
Deputy

From a Decision of the Riverside County Superior Court Case No. 239784, (Consolidated With Case No. RIC-381555)
The Hon. E. Michael Kaiser, Judge

STATE OF CALIFORNIA'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

indivisible, "the entirety of the federal court damages" are, in the policy terms, "all sums which the Insured shall become liable to pay... for damages... because of" property damage during the policy period.

10. California's "All Sums" Law Is Consistent With Many Other Jurisdictions.

The Insurers' argument that an "all sums" liability is objectively unreasonable is refuted by the many jurisdictions that have successfully applied all sums liability without a windfall to the policyholder, provided promised policy limits to pay for cleanup of the environment, and fulfilled the purpose of insurance policies to pay claims up to their policy limits, but no more. The rule adopted by this Court in *Aerojet, Montrose* and other cases, and followed by numerous California Courts of Appeal, not only is based properly upon the plain language of the policies, but also is squarely in the company of many other of the highest courts in the country, including neighboring jurisdictions that have decided the issue.

For example, in *American Nat'l Fire Ins. Co. v. B & L*Trucking & Constr. Co. (Wash. 1998) 951 P.2d 250, 256-257, the

Washington Supreme Court held that the insurance company obligation in standard form liability insurance policies to pay "all sums" that the policyholder faces in liabilities means exactly what it says.

In *B & L Trucking*, the Washington Supreme Court ruled as follows:

We hold that once a policy is triggered, the policy language requires [an] insurer to pay all sums for which the insured becomes legally obligated, up to the policy limits. Once coverage is triggered in one or more policy periods, those policies provide full coverage for all continuing damage, without any allocation between insurer and insured.

(B & L Trucking & Constr. Co., supra, 951 P.2d at p. 253.)

The seminal *Keene* decision, relied upon by many other courts, including this Court, was the first case to address the specific all sums language of standard-form liability insurance policies:

Once triggered, each [Comprehensive General Liability insurance] policy covers [the insured's] liability. There is nothing in the policies that provides for a reduction of the insurer's liability if an injury occurs only in part during a policy period. As we interpret the policies, they cover [the insured's] entire liability once they are triggered. That interpretation is based on the terms of the policies themselves.

(Keene, supra, 667 F.2d at p. 1048; see also Cascade Corp. v. American Home Assur. Co. (Or. Ct. App. 2006) 135 P.3d 450, 455-56 ["The trial court's decision was erroneous because it did not require [the insurance company] to pay [the policyholder]'s loss up to its policy limits [Allocation analysis] does not permit an insurer to pay less than the limits of the applicable policy, leaving the insured with a loss for which there is no coverage."]; J.H. France Refractories Co. v. Allstate Ins. Co. (Pa. 1993) 626 A.2d 502, 507-508; Monsanto Co. v. C.E. Heath (Del. 1994) 652 A.2d 30, 35; Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. (Ohio 2002) 769 N.E.2d 835, 841; Zurich Ins. Co. v. Raymark Indus., Inc. (Ill. 1987) 514 N.E.2d 150, 165; Hercules Inc. v. AIU Ins. Co. (Del. 2001) 784 A.2d 481; Rubenstein v. Royal Ins. Co. of Am. (Mass. App. 1998) 694 N.E.2d 381, affd. (Mass. 1999) 708 N.E.2d 639; Union Pac. Res. Co. v. Continental Ins. Co. (Tex. Dist. Ct. Dec. 17, 1998), No. 249-23-98, reprinted in 13 Mealey's Ins. Litig. Rep. No. 11, Section A (Jan. 19, 1999); Murphy Oil USA, Inc. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co. (Ark. Cir. Ct. Feb. 21, 1995) No. 91-439-2, reprinted in 9 Mealey's Ins. Litig. Rep. No. 19, Section I (Mar. 21, 1995).)

To the extent some jurisdictions have applied a limitation upon the insurance companies' liability to its policyholder – as opposed to the separate issue of apportionment among insurance companies – for whatever reasons, those cases directly contradict this Court. In such instances, those foreign courts ignore the important distinctions made by this Court in *Montrose* and *Aerojet* between the trigger of the policy, the liability to the policyholder, and the apportionment among fellow insurance companies.

Cases cited by the Insurers in their argument that occurrence policies only pay for that portion of the liability taking place during the policy period have been considered and rejected by this Court. (See, e.g., Aerojet, supra, 17 Cal.4th at pp. 75-76, fn. 27.) For example, in Aerojet, the Supreme Court rejected the approach of the New Jersey Supreme Court in Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. United Ins. Co. (N.J. 1994) 650 A.2d 974, because California courts "do not add to, take away from, or otherwise modify a contract for 'public policy considerations." (Id.) Observers have expanded on the criticism of pro rata allocation as burdensome, unpredictable, and outside the norm of insurance policy interpretation. 12

37

⁽See, e.g., Christopher R. Hermann, Joan P. Snyder & Paul S. Logan, The Unanswered Question of Environmental Insurance Allocation in Oregon, 39 Willamette L. Rev. 1131 (Summer 2003).) For example, allocation in New Jersey under the pro rata rule of *Owens-Illinois*, further complicated by *Carter-Wallace v. Admiral Ins. Co.* (N.J. 1998) 712 A.2d 1116, has been criticized as unnecessarily complicated, unpredictable, and inconsistent with fundamental principles of insurance policy interpretation. (See Gregg W. Mackuse, Modern Insurance Coverage Allocation Theories: A Return to Fundamentals (Or Where Have You Gone Keene?), 15-13 Mealey's Litig. Rep. Ins. 11 (February 6, 2001) [noting that "[t]he pro rata theory becomes even more complicated when issues arise involving excess insurance," and that the "all Footnote continued

The *Owens-Illinois* Court did not rely upon policy language, but rather admitted that it was "unable to find the answer to allocation in the language of the policies" and instead created its own ad hoc solution based upon the Court's own ideal of fairness and equity. (*Owens-Illinois, supra*, 650 A.2d at p. 993, et seq.) In contrast, numerous other jurisdictions upholding the "all sums" rule demonstrate that the majority rule in fact forbids insurance companies from limiting their liability to the policyholder unless the policy expressly allowed it. (See, e.g., *New Castle County v. Continental Cas. Co.* (D.Del. 1989) 725 F.Supp.

800, affd. in relevant part (3d Cir. 1991) 933 F.2d 1162 ["An insurance company's liability to an insured is contractual. The terms of the contract are not affected by prior or subsequent coverage"].)

Like many courts employing pro rata allocation schemes, the *Owens-Illinois* Court acknowledged that it was not attempting to find a "universal resolution." (*Id.* at p. 993.) Likewise, in *Consolidated Edison Co. of N.Y., Inc. v. Allstate Ins. Co.* (N.Y. 2002) 774 N.E.2d 687, the New

sums" allocation rule "is more consistent with over 100 years of authority governing interpretation of insurance policies."]; Thomas M. Jones & Jon D. Hurwitz, An Introduction to Insurance Allocation Issues in Multiple-Trigger Cases, 10 Vill. Envtl. L.J. 25 (1999) Inoting that even Owens-Illinois itself acknowledged the "many complexities encumber[ing] the solution that we suggest," potentially requiring a special master "skilled in the economics of insurance" to determine proper allocation]; Richard Lane White, Will Insurance Allocation Ever Be Simple in New Jersey? Comparing Owens-Illinois and Carter-Wallace, 10 Environmental Claims Journal 4 (Summer 1998) at p. 71 [stating that "Carter-Wallace allocation is inconsistent with basic insurance principles" and noting that "[t]he Owens-Illinois approach has received criticism from those who claim it is difficult to implement; ... its most stinging criticism may have come down from the California Supreme Court [in *Aerojet*]"].)

38

NYDOCS1-921667.1

York Court of Appeals acknowledged that its improvised approach "[c]learly . . . is not the last word on proration." (*Id.* 774 N.E.2d at p. 695.)

The foreign cases applying some form of pro rata allocation expressly admit that they disregard explicit policy language that is inconsistent with their ultimate allocation approach. See *Benjamin Moore & Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.* (N.J. 2004) 843 A.2d 1094, 1102-03; *Spaulding Composites Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.* (N.J. 2003) 819 A.2d 410, 419-20; *Consolidated Edison Co. of N.Y., Inc. v. Allstate Ins. Co.* (N.Y. 2002) 774 N.E.2d 687, 695; *Owens-Illinois, supra*, 650 A.2d at p. 993, et seq.)

The Insurers seek reversal based on a one-sided survey of case law from courts across the country, citing only three cases which are consistent with California's "all sums" allocation approach. (OB at pp. 28-29, fn. 7; see generally OB at pp. 28-32.) This presentation is unpersuasive and ignores an express admonition from the Court of Appeal, which noted:

The Insurers proceed to cite out-of-state cases rejecting the all-sums approach. However, they do not tell us how many out-of-state cases *accept* it. Thus, they fail to support their assertion that a "majority of jurisdictions" reject it. In 2004, one journal article reported that "states making the all-sums determination are currently in the majority." (Smith, *Environmental Cleanup and the Interpretation of Comprehensive General Liability Insurance Policies: A Lesson from the Oregon Legislature* (2004) 31 J. Legis. 217, 219.)

(State v. Continental, supra, 170 Cal.App.4th at p. 178, fn. 4, original italics.) Other articles – and courts – have acknowledged that "all sums" is the approach applied by a majority of jurisdictions.¹³

NYDOCS1-921667.1 40

¹³ (See Emhart Indus., Inc. v. Home Ins. Co. (D.R.I. 2007) 515 F.Supp.2d 228, 255-56 [finding in an indemnity context that "all sums" "appears to be in line with the majority of other jurisdictions that have considered the question, although the issue is far from settled", italics added]; Cassandra C. Shivers, Allocation 101: The General Approaches to the Distribution of Insurance Coverage Among Multiple Insurers, American Bar Association Section of Litigation (2005) ["The all sums approach is considered the majority rule of allocation", italics added]; Christopher R. Hermann, Joan P. Snyder & Paul S. Logan, The Unanswered Question of Environmental Insurance Allocation in Oregon, 39 Willamette L. Rev. 1131 (Summer 2003) [citing Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. (Ohio 2002) 769 N.E.2d 835, 841 and Am. Natl. Fire Ins. Co. v. B & L Trucking & Constr. Co., Inc. (Wash. 1998) 951 P.2d 250, 256, as "naming all sums the majority rule"]; Paul Rose & Rajesh Bagga, The Law of Allocation - Who's Winning the Battle Anyway, 12 Coverage 1, American Bar Association Section of Litigation (July / August 2002) [citing the Delaware Supreme Court's acknowledgement of "all sums" as the majority rule in Hercules, Inc. v. AIU Ins. Co. (Del. 2001) 784 A.2d 481, 490, and concluding that "[a] majority of the jurisdictions nationally that have addressed the "horizontal allocation" or "pick and choose" ["all sums"] issue have held in favor of policyholders, recognizing their right to assign their claims to the triggered policy or policies of their choice"].)

The Insurers cherry-pick pro-rata cases from other jurisdictions, ignoring at least 16 states which have adopted the "all sums" approach 14 (as opposed to the 14 state court decisions cited by Petitioners

¹⁴ (See Murphy Oil USA, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co. (Ark. Cir. Ct. Feb. 21, 1995) No. 91-439-2, reprinted in 9 Mealey's Ins. Litig. Rep. No. 19, Section I (Mar. 21, 1995); Montrose Chem. Corp. v. Admiral Ins. Co. (1995) 10 Cal.4th 645; Aerojet-General Corp. v. Transport Indem. Co. (1997) 17 Cal.4th 38; Armstrong World Indus. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. (1996) 45 Cal. App. 4th 1; FMC Corp. v. Plaisted & Cos. (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 1132; Stonewall Ins. Co. v. City of Palos Verdes Estates (1996) 46 Cal. App. 4th 1810; Reichhold Chems., Inc. v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co. (Conn. 2000) 750 A.2d 1051 [applying Washington law]; Hercules, Inc. v. AIU Ins. Co. (Del. 2001) 784 A.2d 481; Monsanto Co. v. C.E. Heath Compensation & Liab. Ins. Co. (Del. 1994) 652 A.2d 30 [applying Missouri law]; Keene Corp. v. Ins. Co. of N. Am. (D.C. Cir. 1981) 667 F.2d 1034, cert. denied (1982) 455 U.S. 1007; Zurich Ins. Co. v. Raymark Indus., Inc. (Ill. 1987) 514 N.E.2d 150; Benoy Motor Sales, Inc. v. Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. (Ill. App. 1997) 679 N.E.2d 414; Zurich Ins. Co. v. Northbrook Excess & Surplus Ins. Co. (Ill. App. 1986) 494 N.E.2d 634, affd. (Ill. 1987) 514 N.E.2d 150; Allstate Ins. Co. v. Dana Corp. (Ind. 2001) 759 N.E.2d 1049; Chicago Bridge & Iron Co. v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London (Mass. App. 2003) 797 N.E.2d 434, review denied (Mass. 2004) 803 N.E.2d 332 [applying Illinois law]; Rubenstein v. Royal Ins. Co. of Am. (Mass. App. 1998) 694 N.E.2d 381, affd. (Mass. 1999) 708 N.E.2d 639; Polaroid Corp. v. Travelers Indem. Co., No. 88-5208 (Mass. Dist. Ct. Jan. 2, 1992), affd. on other grounds (Mass. 1993) 610 N.E.2d 912; In re W.R. Grace & Co. Asbestos Property Damage Claims, Liquidation No. 1895-1916 (Mo. Cir. Ct. Apr. 13, 1998) (Transit Cas. Co. in Receivership, Cause No. CV 185-1286CC); Transit Cas. Co. in Receivership v. Purex Indus. Inc., No. CV 696-3CC (Mo. Cir. Ct. June 11, 1996) (Transit Cas. Co. in Receivership, Cause No. CV 185-1206CC); Viacom, Inc. v. Transit Cas. Co. in Receivership (Mo. 2004) 138 S.W.3d 723 (en banc; per curiam) [applying Pennsylvania law]; Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. (Ohio 2002) 769 N.E.2d 835; Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp. v. American Centennial Ins. Co. (Ohio Ct. Com. Pleas 1995) 660 N.E.2d 770; Cascade Corp. v. American Home Assurance Co. (Or. Ct. App. 2006) 135 P.3d 450; J.H. France Refractories Co. v. Footnote continued

allegedly rejecting "all sums").¹⁵ In addition, of the eight United States Courts of Appeals that Petitioners allege have rejected "all sums," there are conflicting, ¹⁶ or distinguishing, ¹⁷ decisions in at least six of the Circuits,

Allstate Ins. Co. (Pa. 1993) 626 A.2d 502; Emhart Industries, Inc. v. Home Ins. Co. (D. R.I. 2007) 515 F.Supp.2d 228; Texas Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Southwest Aggregates, Inc. (Tex. Ct. App. 1998) 982 S.W.2d 600; CNA Lloyd's of Tex. v. St. Paul Ins. Co. (Tex. Ct. App. 1995) 902 S.W.2d 657; Highlands Ins. Co. v. Temple-Inland, Inc. (Tex. Dist. Ct. Aug. 4, 1999) No. 98-42939, reprinted in 13 Mealey's Ins. Litig. Rep. No. 40, Section H (Aug. 24, 1999); Union Pac. Res. Co. v. Continental Ins. Co. (Tex. Dist. Ct. Dec. 17, 1998) No. 249-23-98, reprinted in 13 Mealey's Ins. Litig. Rep. No. 11, Section A (Jan. 19, 1999); Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. AIU Ins. Co., No. 0145672 (Tex. Dist. Ct. May 3, 1996), reprinted in 10 Mealey's Ins. Litig. Rep. No. 26, Section B (May 14, 1996); C.E. Thurston & Sons, Inc. v. Chicago Ins. Co., No. 2:97cv1034 (E.D.Va. Oct. 1 & 2, 1998), reprinted in Mealey's Publications Document #03-981020-012 (Nov. 2, 1998) [applying Virginia law]; Am. Nat'l Fire Ins. Co. v. B & L Trucking & Constr. Co., Inc. (Wash. 1998) 951 P.2d 250; Weverhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co. (Wash. 2000) 15 P.3d 115; Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Accident & Cas. Ins. Co. (Wash. 2000) 998 P.2d 856 [applying Pennsylvania law]; Wheeling Pittsburgh Corp. v. American Ins. Co., No. 93-C-340 2003 WL 23652106, at *1 (W. Va. Cir. Ct. Oct. 28, 2003); Plastics Engineering Co. v. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co. (Wis. 2009) 759 N.W.2d 613; Society of Ins. v. Town of Franklin (Wis. Ct. App. 2000) 607 N.W.2d 342, review granted (Wis. 2000) 616 N.W.2d 114.)

It is telling to note that the Insurers have abandoned their hyperbolic argument to the Court of Appeal, where they claimed that the "majority of jurisdictions" rejected "all sums." (2007 WL 4969097 at *23.) In their brief to this Court, the Insurers merely contend that "Courts Across the Country Have Found [Against "All Sums"]." (OB at p. 28.)

Specifically, the Second, Third, Sixth, and Seventh Circuit decisions cited by the Insurers are inconsistent with other decisions from the same Circuits. (See *In re Prudential Lines, Inc.* (2d Cir. 1998) 158 F.3d 65; Koppers Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. (3d Cir. 1996) 98 F.3d 1440; ACandS, Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. (3d Cir. 1985)

Footnote continued

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